

2<sup>nd</sup> SmallCell LTE Plugfest Paris, France 23 June - 3 July 2014









2

Keywords Testing, Interoperability, Small Cell, LTE

#### ETSI

#### 650 Route des Lucioles F-06921 Sophia Antipolis Cedex - FRANCE

Tel.: +33 4 92 94 42 00 Fax: +33 4 93 65 47 16

Siret N° 348 623 562 00017 - NAF 742 C Association à but non lucratif enregistrée à la Sous-préfecture de Grasse (06) N° 7803/88

#### Important notice

The present document can be downloaded from: http://www.etsi.org

The present document may be made available in electronic versions and/or in print. The content of any electronic and/or print versions of the present document shall not be modified without the prior written authorization of ETSI. In case of any existing or perceived difference in contents between such versions and/or in print, the only prevailing document is the print of the Portable Document Format (PDF) version kept on a specific network drive within ETSI Secretariat.

Users of the present document should be aware that the document may be subject to revision or change of status. Information on the current status of this and other ETSI documents is available at http://portal.etsi.org/tb/status/status.asp

If you find errors in the present document, please send your comment to one of the following services: <u>http://portal.etsi.org/chaircor/ETSI\_support.asp</u>

#### **Copyright Notification**

No part may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and microfilm except as authorized by written permission of ETSI. The content of the PDF version shall not be modified without the written authorization of ETSI.

The copyright and the foregoing restriction extend to reproduction in all media.

© European Telecommunications Standards Institute yyyy. All rights reserved.

DECT<sup>™</sup>, PLUGTESTS<sup>™</sup>, UMTS<sup>™</sup> and the ETSI logo are Trade Marks of ETSI registered for the benefit of its Members. **3GPP<sup>™</sup>** and LTE<sup>™</sup> are Trade Marks of ETSI registered for the benefit of its Members and of the 3GPP Organizational Partners.

**GSM**® and the GSM logo are Trade Marks registered and owned by the GSM Association.

# Contents

Intelle	ectual Property Rights	5
Exect	utive summary	5
Introd	duction	5
2	References	7
3	Abbreviations	8
4	Participants	9
5	Technical and Project Management	10
5.1	Test Plan	
5.1.1	Regression	
5.1.2	Security	
5.1.3	HeMS	
5.1.4	MOB	
5.1.5	SON	
5.1.6	CSFB	
5.1.7	IMS	
5.2	Test Sessions	
5.2.1	Test Configurations	
5.2.2	Test Schedule	
5.3	Test Infrastructure	
5.3.1	Remote Test Infrastructure	
5.3.2	Local Test Infrastructure	
5.3.3	Mobility Test infrastructure	
5.3.4.1	1 Mobility with macro	
5.3.4.2	2 Multi-vendor Mobility	
5.3.4	SON Test infrastructure	
5.3.4.1	1 SON with macro	
5.3.4.2	2 Multi-vendor SON	
5.3.5	CSFB Test Infrastructure	
5.2.2	CMAS Test Infrastructure	
5.3.6	IMS Test Infrastructure	
5.3.7	Security Test Infrastructure	
5.3.7.1	1 Procedure to obtain certificates	
5.3.7.2	2 Secure connection call flow	
5.3.6	Tracing	
5.4	Interoperability Test Procedure	
5.4.1	Pre-testing procedure	
5.4.2	Face-to-Face testing procedure	
6	Interoperability Results	29
6.1	Results Overview	
6.2	Results per Test Group	
6.2.1	CSFB	
6.2.2	HeMS	
6.2.3	SON	
6.2.4	MOB	
6.2.5	Regression	
6.2.6	CMAS	
6.2.7	SEC	
6.2.8	IMS	

7	Plugfest Outcome	31
7.1	Feedback on Base Specifications	31
7.1.1	3GPP TS 36.413	31
7.1.2	3GPP TS 29.168 and TS 36.300	31
7.2	Feedback on Test Specifications	32
7.2.1	CSFB	32
7.2.2	HeMS	32
7.2.3	SON	32
7.2.4	MOB	32
7.2.5	Regression	33
7.2.6	CMAS	33
7.2.7	IMS	34
7.3	Feedback on IOP Issues	34
7.3.1	HeMS Test Group Authentication Issue	34
7.3.2	Small Cell provisioning in CBC	34
7.3.3	Small Cell provisioning in macro eNBs neighbour list.	35
7.4	Feedback on Organizational Issues	35
7.4.1	Remote test infrastructure	35
7.4.2	Pre-testing	35
7.4.3	Event format and duration	35
7.4.4	Configuration parameters	36
7.4.5	Security Certificates	37
7.4.6	GPS Signal	37
7.4.7	Mobility Testing	37
7.4.8	Test Session Chairs	38
Histo	ry	39

# Intellectual Property Rights

IPRs essential or potentially essential to the present document may have been declared to ETSI. The information pertaining to these essential IPRs, if any, is publicly available for **ETSI members and non-members**, and can be found in ETSI SR 000 314: "Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs); Essential, or potentially Essential, IPRs notified to ETSI in respect of ETSI standards", which is available from the ETSI Secretariat. Latest updates are available on the ETSI Web server (http://ipr.etsi.org).

5

Pursuant to the ETSI IPR Policy, no investigation, including IPR searches, has been carried out by ETSI. No guarantee can be given as to the existence of other IPRs not referenced in ETSI SR 000 314 (or the updates on the ETSI Web server) which are, or may be, or may become, essential to the present document.

# **Executive summary**

The 2nd Small Cell LTE Plugfest was organised by the Small Cell Forum in partnership with the ETSI Centre for Testing and Interoperability, and hosted by ORANGE Labs in Paris from 23 June to 02 July 2014.

These series of Plugfests aim to cultivating an effective ecosystem of interoperable small cells, helping to debug vendor implementations and drive the resolution of standards ambiguities and gaps. These activities help to provide operators and consumers with a wider choice of small cell products while also facilitating economies of scale to bring the small cell mass market closer

Multi-vendor Self Optimizing Networks (SON) and voice over LTE were two of the topics given attention at the fifth Plugfest in the series, which was also the second one to focus exclusively on LTE small cells and saw attendance almost double compared to previous year's event.

The scope of this 2nd LTE Plugfest included various small cell LTE variations. Testing concentrated on S1, X2 and management interface (TR-069) and covered testing areas such as Regression, Handover, Mobility (Outbound, Inbound), Voice Support via CS Fall-back schemes, Voice and Video over LTE, CMAS and SON. As well as testing small cell/macro handover and security gateways, another key area of focus was the testing of multi-vendor SON in heterogeneous networks.

The Plugfest was supported by 26 different organisations with 65 engineers onsite, including equipment vendors, test tool vendors and companies providing test network infrastructure: Airspan, Airvana, Alcatel-Lucent, Broadcom, Casa Systems, Cavium, Cisco, Com4Innov, Contela, Fujitsu, IP.access, Ixia, JDSU, NEC, Node-H, One2Many, Orange, Public Wireless, PureWave Networks, Qosmotec, Qucell, Quortus, Radisys, Sistel Networks, SMEC and Stoke.

All participants were requested to conduct remote pre-test integration. By connecting to the remote test infrastructure, enabled by ETSI, participants had a chance to anticipate and mitigate connectivity problems during the Plugfest. Running remote pre-testing allowed to target a large scope and ensured a good rate of successful test case execution during the event.

# Introduction

This Plugfest aimed at verifying the interoperability between different players in the Small Cell and LTE ecosystems which included the following categories of equipment:

- Different types of SmallCell: Home eNodeB (HeNB), micro eNB, pico eNB
- Security Gateway (SeGW),
- Home eNodeB Gateway (HeNB-GW),
- Home eNodeB Management System (HeMS)
- Evolved Packet Core (ePC)
- Macro eNB

- Cell Broadcast Centre (CBC)
- IP Multimedia Subsystem (IMS)

All of them were either deployed locally at Orange Labs, or connected remotely to the test network.

# 2 References

References are either specific (identified by date of publication and/or edition number or version number) or non-specific. For specific references, only the cited version applies. For non-specific references, the latest version of the referenced document (including any amendments) applies.

7

Referenced documents which are not found to be publicly available in the expected location might be found at <a href="http://docbox.etsi.org/Reference">http://docbox.etsi.org/Reference</a>.

- NOTE: While any hyperlinks included in this clause were valid at the time of publication ETSI cannot guarantee their long term validity.
- [TS29.168] 3GPP TS 29.1680 "Universal Mobile Telecommunications System (UMTS); LTE; Cell Broadcast Centre interfaces with the Evolved Packet Core; Stage 3"
- [TS36.300] 3GPP TS 36.300 "Evolved Universal Terrestrial Radio Access (E-UTRA) and Evolved Universal Terrestrial Radio Access (E-UTRAN); Overall description; Stage 2"
- [TS36.413] 3GPP TS 36.413 LTE; Evolved Universal Terrestrial Radio Access Network (E-UTRAN); S1 Application Protocol (S1AP)
- [TS36.423] 3GPP TS 36.423 LTE; Evolved Universal Terrestrial Radio Access Network (E-UTRAN); X2 Application Protocol (X2AP)
- [TS23.272] 3GPP TS 23.272 Digital cellular telecommunications system (Phase 2+); Universal Mobile Telecommunications System (UMTS); Circuit Switched (CS) fallback in Evolved Packet System (EPS); Stage 2
- [TS23.401] 3GPP TS 23.401 LTE; General Packet Radio Service (GPRS) enhancements for Evolved Universal Terrestrial Radio Access Network (E-UTRAN) access
- [TR-069] BBF TR-069 amendment 2 CPE WAN Management Protocol v1.1. <u>http://www.broadband-forum.org/technical/download/TR-069\_Amendment-2.pdf</u>

# 3 Abbreviations

CA	Certification Authority
CBC	Cell Broadcast Centre
CBS	Cell Broadcast Service
CMAS	Commercial Mobile alert System
CMP	Certificate Management Protocol
CSFB	Circuit Switch Fall-Back
CSR	Certificate Signing Request
CTI	Centre for Testing and Interoperability
DUT	Device under Test
SCF	Small Cell Forum
eNB	Evolved Node B
EPC	Evolved Packet Core
ETSI	European Telecommunications Standards Institute
IOP	Interoperability
HeMS	HeNB Management System
HeNB	Home eNodeB
HeNB-GW	Home eNodeB Gateway
HIVE	Hub for Interoperability and Validation at ETSI
НО	Hand Over
IMS	IP Multimedia Subsystem
MOB	Mobility
NA	Test recorded as Not Applicable
NGMN	Next Generation Mobile Network
NO	Test recorded as Not OK
OK	Test is recorded as successfully passed
OT	Out of Time. Test is recorded as not being executed due to lack of time
PEM	Privacy Enhanced Mail
PKI	Private Key Infrastructure
SeGW	Security Gateway
TAC	Tracking Area Code
TAI	Tracking Area Identity
SON	Self-Organising Networks
TRT	Test Reporting Tool
TSR	Test Session Report. Report created during a Test Session.
VPN	Virtual Private Network

8

# 4 Participants

The Plugfest was supported by 26 organisations. The table below summarizes the companies that participated to the Plugfest and the equipment/tools they provided.

						pico/micro	macro		IMS	NodeB +		Local/Remote.
	HeNB	HeNBGW	SeGW	HeMS	CBC	eNB	eNB	ePC	Core	3G core	Tools	Comments
Airspan						2						Local. Pico eNB
Airvana	2											Local
ALU	2											Local 2 Pico
France						2						eNB
ALU India				1								Local
Broadcom	2											Local
Casa												
Systems		1										Remote
Cavium	2										1	Local
Cisco												
Systems		1	1					1				Remote
Com4Inno v								1	1			Remote
Contela		1		1								Local
Fujitsu	2	1										Local
IP.access	1											Local
Ixia								1	1			Local. Simulators
JDSU											1	Local
NEC	2	1				2						2 micro Local, other Remote
Node-H	2											Local
One2many					1							Remote
Orange					-		4	2		1		Local
Public								2		1		Local Pico
Wireless						1						eNB
PureWave												
Networks	1											Local
Qosmotec											2	Local
Qucell	2											Local
Quortus								2	2			Local. Built-in IMS
Radisys	2											Local
Sistel Networks	2			1								Remote
Smec		1	1									Remote
Stoke		1	1									Remote
TOTAL	20	6	3	3	1	7	4	7	4	1	4	

Overall, a total of 27 Small Cells (20 HeNBs, 5 pico eNBs and 2 micro eNBs) participated to the interoperability test sessions together with 6 HeNB-GWs, 3 SeGWs, 3 HeMS, 1 CBC, 4 macro eNBs, 7 ePCs, 4 IMS cores, 1 3G core and several test tools, including protocol and spectrum analyser and programmable attenuators.

While participating companies could decide to bring their equipment physically to the lab, or to operate it remotely from the Plugfest venue, engineering presence at the Plugfest lab was mandatory for all participating companies.

# 5 Technical and Project Management

All the information required to organise and manage the Plugfest was compiled and shared with participants in a dedicated private WIKI put in place by ETSI. Participants were provided with credentials that allowed them to access and update their details. All the information presented in this chapter is an extract of the ETSI Plugfest wiki: <u>https://services.plugtests.net/wiki/Small-Cell-LTE-Plugfest-2</u> (login required)

# 5.1 Test Plan

The test plan was originally produced by the Small Cell Forum IOP Group. In addition, NGMN contributed to the test plan with SON test cases. During the regular conference calls which were held as part of the event preparation, companies could discuss, modify existing test cases or propose additional tests. Eventually, the original test plan from previous Small Cell LTE event was extended with new test cases covering a number of additional topics: CMAS, CSFB, IMS, ... The Plugfest organisers and participants reviewed the test plans to check if these TCs could be executed with the registered equipment & tools. TCs were also reviewed to make sure they fall under correct category and are defined with clear Pass / Fail criteria. Finally, the test cases groups were assigned to the different test configurations in scope.

The following clauses summarise the 78 test cases in scope for the event.

# 5.1.1 Regression

The regression test group included the following 9 test cases

Test ID	Summary
FIC/HENB/01	SCTP Association / S1 Interface Setup / Successful Operation
FIC/UELTE/01	UE Registration / Default Bearer Setup / Downlink-Uplink Traffic Flow
FIC/HENB/02	SCTP Association / S1 Interface Setup / Failure
FIC/S1/01	UE Deregistration / Network Detach
SVC/LTEPS/01	Paging
FIC/HENB/03	SCTP Association / S1 Interface Setup / Failure with reattempt
SVC/LTEPS/03	Network initiated ERAB setup - GBR
SVC/LTEPS/04	Network initiated ERAB release
SVC/LTEPS/06	ERAB modification by the network

### 5.1.2 Security

The Security test group included the following 15 test cases:

Test ID	Summary
SEC/FSG/01	HNB -> SeGW Crypto Profile Configuration and Basic Tunnel Establishment
SEC/FSG/02	Use of NAT-T
SEC/FSG/03	Use of NAT-T -> Dynamic Address Change
SEC/FSG/04	DPDs
SEC/FSG/05	IPSec SA Rekeying from HNB
SEC/FSG/06	IPSec SA Rekeying from SeGW
SEC/FSG/07	IKE SA Rekeying from HNB
SEC/FSG/08	IKE SA Rekeying from SeGW
SEC/FSG/09	Tunnel Deletion
SEC/FSG/10	HNB Reboot

SEC/FSG/12	End Entity Certificate Enrolment
SEC/FSG/13	Uplink Data Transfer -> IPSec Pre-Fragmentation on Secure Link
SEC/FSG/14	Uplink Data Transfer -> IPSec Post-Fragmentation on Secure Link
SEC/FSG/15	Downlink Data Transfer -> IPSec Pre-Fragmentation on Secure Link
SEC/FSG/16	Downlink Data Transfer -> IPSec Post-Fragmentation on Secure Link

# 5.1.3 HeMS

This test group focused on the Management interface and included the following 27 test cases:

Test ID	Summary
TC/HeMS/Reg/01	HeNB registration with Serving HeMS.
TC/HeMS/CMP/02	Configuration Management Procedure - Using SetParameterValues RPC meth
TC/HeMS/FR/01	Factory Reset.
TC/HeMS/Conn/01	Requests connection - HeMS to HeNB
TC/HeMS/Conn/02	Requests connection - HeNB to HeMS
TC/HeMS/CWMP/02	CPE WAN Management Protocol - SetParameterValues
TC/HeMS/CWMP/03	CPE WAN Management Protocol - GetParameterValues
TC/HeMS/CWMP/04	CPE WAN Management Protocol - SetParameterAttributes
TC/HeMS/CWMP/05	CPE WAN Management Protocol - GetParameterAttributes
TC/HeMS/Notification/01	Notification - Configuration
TC/HeMS/Notification/02	Notification - HeNB sends notification to HeMS
TC/HeMS/CWMP/10	CPE WAN Management Protocol - Inform
TC/HeMS/CMP/01	Configuration Management Procedure - Using file download
TC/HeMS/Alarm/01	Alarm Reporting Procedures - Alarm configuration including Alarm repo
TC/HeMS/Alarm/02	Alarm Reporting Procedures - Alarm reporting procedure for expedited
TC/HeMS/PM/01	Performance management - Performance management configuration (includi
TC/HeMS/PM/02	Performance management - File upload.
TC/HeMS/SWID/01	SW image download
TC/HeMS/Set/01	HeMS sets up HeNB profiles
TC/HeMS/Get/01	HeMS checks HeNB profiles
TC/HeMS/CWMP/01	CPE WAN Management Protocol - GetRPCMethods
TC/HeMS/CWMP/06	CPE WAN Management Protocol - AddObject
TC/HeMS/CWMP/07	CPE WAN Management Protocol - DeleteObject
TC/HeMS/CWMP/08	CPE WAN Management Protocol - Download
TC/HeMS/CWMP/09	CPE WAN Management Protocol - Reboot
TC/HeMS/CWMP/11	CPE WAN Management Protocol - TransferComplete
TC/HeMS/CWMP/12	CPE WAN Management Protocol - AutonomousTransferComplete

# 5.1.4 MOB

The mobility test group included the following 7 test cases:

Test ID	Summary
MOB/LTEPS/01	S1 based Femto to Macro Handovers -> Success
MOB/LTEPS/02	Intra-Frequency S1 based Femto to Femto Handovers -> Success

MOB/LTEPS/03	Inter-Frequency S1 based Femto to Femto Handovers -> Success
MOB/LTEPS/05	X2 Setup on Secure Link
MOB/LTEPS/06	X2 Reset on Secure Link
MOB/LTEPS/04	Intra-Frequency X2 based Femto to Femto (or macro eNodeB) Handovers -> Success
MOB/LTEPS/13	Inter-Frequency X2 based Femto to Femto (or macro eNodeB) Handovers -> Success

# 5.1.5 SON

The test group dedicated to Self-Organising Networks included the following 12 test cases:

Test ID	Summary
DSON/PCI/05	PCI Conflict / Confusion Detection: Detect PCI Confusion with X2 Neighbor Cells
DSON/PCI/08	PCI Conflict / Confusion Resolution: PCI Confusion Resolution with X2 Neighbor Cells
DSON/ANR/01	ANR in existing network with one LTE Macro Cell
DSON/MRO/01	Basic Too Late Handover Test Case: Vendor A is a Small Cell eNB: Radio Link Failure occurs in Small Cell eNB (Cell 1)
DSON/MRO/02	Basic Too Late Handover Test Case: Radio Link Failure occurs in Macro Cell eNB (Cell 2)
DSON/MRO/06	Basic Too Early Handover Test Case: Vendor A is a Small Cell eNB: Radio Link Failure in Small Cell (Cell 1) occurs after Handover Executio
DSON/MRO/11	Basic Ping-Pong Handover Test Case: Ping-Pong detected in the Macro Cell
DSON/MRO/20	Combined Test Case: Multiple Too Late Handovers, Vendor A is Small Cell, Single Direction (Small Cell (Cell 1) -> Macro Cell (Cell 2))
DSON/CCO/01	Basic Test Case: Resource Status Reporting Initiated from Small Cell eNB (Cell 1) towards Macro Cell eNB (Cell 2)
DSON/CCO/10	Combined Test Case: Static UE Distribution: Decrease in Small Cell DL Tx Power
DSON/ANR/02	ANR in existing network with non-overlapping Small Cells
DSON/MRO/12	Basic Handover to Wrong Cell Test Case: Small Cell eNB Handed over to Macro Cell eNB, then Re-Establishment attempt in a different Small Cell eNB

# 5.1.6 CSFB

This test group targeted voice calls via Circuit Switch Fall Back schemes, and included the following 4 test cases:

Test ID	Summary
SVC/CSFB/01	CSFB Mobile originating call - Idle mode
SVC/CSFB/02	CSFB Mobile originating call - Active mode
SVC/CSFB/03	CSFB Mobile terminating call - Idle mode
SVC/CSFB/04	CSFB Mobile terminating call - Active mode

# 5.1.7 IMS

The IMS test group included the following 2 test cases:

Test ID	Summary
TC/IMS/VoLTE01	End to end VoLTE Call
TC/IMS/ViLTE01	End to end video call over LTE

# 5.2 Test Sessions

The test sessions were split in pre-testing sessions and face to face sessions.

Pre-testing sessions were enabled by ETSI HIVE (see section 5.3 Test Infrastructure) which was available, for testing, a month in advance prior to the Plugfest event. Participants who were not able to complete these sessions remotely, could also run these during the Plugfest.

Remote pre-testing facilitated in covering a large scope of IOT activity for Plugfest such that the face to face test sessions could be used only for complex scenarios which required physical access to equipment's, tools and lab setup.

### 5.2.1 Test Configurations

A detailed study was undertaken to identify the test configuration which could combine Test Scope, Test Cases, available equipment, tools, features and support from participants. This set of configurations (tabled below) made sure that each equipment was given a chance to test with most of the peer equipment (from other vendors).

Test Configuration	Equipment under Test	Support Equipment	<b>Pre-testing</b>	Duration	Test Group
Security	1xHeNB 1xSeGW		Yes	2h	Security
Management	1xHeMs 1xHeNB	ePC	Yes	2h	HeMS
S1 w/Gw	1xHeNB 1xHeNBGw	ePC SeGW	Yes	2h	Regression
S1	1x(H)eNB ePC	SeGW HeNBGW (*)	Yes	4h	Regression
Multivendor Mobility	2x(H)eNB	ePC	Yes	4h	Mobility
Mobility w/Macro	1x(H)eNB 1xeNB	ePC	No	4h	Mobility
SON w/Macro	1-2x(H)eNB eNB	ePC	No	4h	SON
Multivendor SON	2-3x(H)eNB	ePC HeMS (*)	No	4h	SON
CSFB	1x(H)eNB NodeB	3G core ePC	No	4h	CSFB
CMAS	1x(H)eNB CBS	ePC	No	2h	CMAS
IMS	1x(H)eNB ePC IMS		No	2h	IMS

#### 5.2.2 Test Schedule

The face to face Plugfest ran from Monday 23<sup>rd</sup> June to Wednesday 2<sup>nd</sup> July 2014. Local test network, laboratory and all the supporting equipment provided by Orange (eNBs, ePCs ...) had already been deployed onsite before the Plugfest started. All the remote equipment had been previously connected to the test infrastructure. The first morning on-site was dedicated to local equipment deployment and troubleshooting connectivity problems.

The preliminary face to face test session schedule was developed prior to the Plugfest and was circulated among the participants in advance for comments. The features supported by each vendor were taken into account to produce an efficient scheduling.

The test schedule allowed to execute up to 18 parallel test sessions, organised in several test tracks, including:

- S1 interface (regression with all ePCs) 7 test tracks (one per ePC)
- Circuit Switch Fall Back (CSFB) 1 test track

- Mobility (with macro, multi-vendor) 2 test tracks
- SON (with macro, multi-vendor) 2 test tracks
- Pre-testing completion (Security, S1 with HeNB-GW, Management Interface) 4 test tracks

In addition some ad-hoc test sessions allocated on the fly allowed to re-run uncompleted test sessions when required and additional test sessions to cover the following topics (2 test tracks):

- IMS
- CMAS

Most test sessions had a duration of 4 hours, while some specific topics (Security, S1 with HeNB-GW, IMS, CMAS) could be run in 2 hour sessions. The day was organized in a morning test session from 9.00 to 13.00 and an afternoon test session from 14.30 to 18.30. A wrap-up meeting to discuss the day's findings was scheduled every evening before closure.

During the test event the test schedule was constantly reviewed and adapted according to the progress of the Plugfest test sessions. This was done during the wrap-up meetings at the end of the day and during regular face-to-face meetings with participants.

The figure below shows the last version of the test schedule as of Wednesday 3<sup>rd</sup> July (Please note that some test sessions extended over multiple test slots, which is not visible in the schedule).



		Reporte (unital)	Repetite (LODA)	Transfer (MISH)		Repute (LODI)	Regration (LATERS)	Repute (MIN)	(1919 (146/641)		-	All share (and at		P34449(0418)	F104104081	Programme and a street	Phageate strep parts	BOT ASSAULT (APPROX)	
		Areas Bellation	2 tans tel tans	Train furt tans		Traine, Salt State	2 Instan - Ball Baston	Travena and forma	2 tates met tates		Treat fait (and )	and the state of the set		2 Bradese - Ball Bradese	annetterer first stars	2 man.men.men.m	2 BRATHMAN THE REAL	annitene att stere	
				and a second second							Colar - Color Balla (mg	100-004125		Citerature in the		City of the local division of the local divi	Citerate and calls	Orage and Minute Of	
	100										trap. drivep them	casp-accorp.des		dinas - Bolt Arms		g rates bet rates	Brates Balt braker	Cap- Prinspillion	
																And Distances	COLUMN A STREET, STORY		
		Agreed as (1995-19		Expedia (MISE)	Agnalia (MISH)		Regrestive (LANSING)		(1979 (147341)	ALC ADART (MINE)			ALC ADDRESS (MILLION)		71041(H918)		Phagealac strike phone	000(0004)	ALC ADDATE (MILLER)
		Arge. No. ett. Arge.		atres met sines	I Taxas Ball Davas		B PARAMAN BAR NAM		a new mentions	angen die all steps			a gent and gent t		her tonate			Color-Ball Color	Color - Barb Color
		these addresses		confer successions	trap dromp these		Content of Canadas		0.00 - 0.00 B B B B	Contrast - Contrast Martine page			Tange - and Minute St.		Fallen - Bart Ballen	There is a second second	No. Long to A	contraction of the second	Table - William Ballion (14)
										Step- of Corporation			Cap. of Capablan			9 mar. mennent	B Brades - Ball Brades		they . Privage Street
	100															THER. BATHTE INCO.	Doctored and		
	100																		
	т.									503									
		Agreed as (MISSO)	Augustus (Anton)	Repairs (MISH)	Agnatia (MISAI)	Reports (1993)	Regression (Longon)		(101) (141)(1)	#18 x5xxx(x0.00)				214-40(0)(0)(0)(0)	(1040.0404)	Cologradia arres ( arra)	Philippedia area patients		
		these effectives	Balles and the s	Cont. Ball (pad)	In street from and street	Barriss Said Parties	Transform - And Transform		Trades - Ball Brades	Ballips - Bart ta Beret				State Bolt Sale	Ber Tutterte . Bart Bant	g gaat datt gaat 1	S Inda - Ball Inda		
										thep- art blass tr				Planing (MIR)			Phageable strive strike		
	100													3 single. The art signs			3 (944-1448 (944)		
										-									
	100																		
		Reporter (10041)	Repeater (Lester)		Regnatia (MODAT)	Reporter (LANSE)	Regrestion (Longian)								(1041(H10)	Pringenia with \$ \$10.8			
	<b>-</b>	THE OWNER AND A DESCRIPTION OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER	BURNING SATING		Province. Ball Northern	B Book - Ball Speed 1	B tuber bett tubert								Solar Solars	State Lands. Ball Ball			
														*14x40((0010)		Programming and			
														b Brades. Ball Brades.		Contrast name rooks			
	-																		
-	1000																		
	1.000																		
	1.000																		
	-										_								
	-		Agentic (ATUR)		Register (unital)		lignalis (ett.it)			and and advancement	-			Placety (#18)	718a1(1018)				
***	1		Reguestion (Sattanti) () good - Statit (Sanda)		Ngrada (untar) () rijka -kult figlia (		Tegente (1714)			and and observations from the first from		**************************************		Placety (dita)	Filest(sets)			100 alian (2010) 3 100 - 100 alian (10	
***	1 11 1		Sagnatius (nettur) 9 gund - Sutti (sudt) 9 gunda - Alf (sudta		Nguda (mini) Briga Antinga ( Tag- d'irag Masi		Tagantas (1971) 9 Mai Takuto, Kati Kat		an (ala)	ant Mitt skurs (status) Franz Ant Franz Mag Taka Mara ya Mag Taka Mara ya		Mit of Same (Mitted) 110 - Nite Same and 120 - Ni			Filmel(unid) Annicat Anti-Anni Backer - Salt Backer			All shan (stat)	
	1 11 1		laganta (serie) 9 gud delt (serie) 9 de del (serie)		Ngradia (1854) Si rigia dalah rigia ( Taga di traggi dalah		Taganta (1974) B. Carlos Anton San Carlos - Al Taganta		an orașe Statute	ant anter alter program Program Arthogon Stage at 1.01 Program Stage at 1.01 Program	-	No office (second) 1 (South State of ( 1 (South State of ( 1 (South State of ( 1 (South State of ()))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))		Placety (B18) sea course our Placety (B18) results (B18) course our	Filestonie) Science Rolline Science Rolline	They water with \$ \$10.0		Ant a factor (an ant) a con a second and a con a second and (a second and a second a second and (a second and a second a second and (a second a	
	1 1 1 1		Agadas (netta) 3 gada Anti gada gada Ati gada		Ngradia (1010) 31 rijes - Scill Felger I 11 rijes - Ortrage Masso		Ingenie (antal) in the function from the machine - off function		inge (anton) in nakonsaan saat maar ingga at ingt disaa	ant share prices from Arth From they with the P frequent state of they with the P		Mit where series 1 the set where any 1 the set where any the set wh		Placet (818) Bellowic Setter Placet (818) The Setter Sette	Filestonie) Science fortine Science fortine	Pringenia scritt ( 1014) State Sando - Sant San Jaka Santor Nas		Mit allen (MIM) Mit - Mitaland Mit - Mitaland Taga - Mitaland Taga - Mitaland	
			Agasta (atta) gada Anti gada gada Anti gada		Nguda (mta) Ngu Anti Ana ( Ngu Anti Angu I		Ingenie (mr.e) Sala Salat, Ann Bar Hantan - An Tanaka		inter (antara) Inter (antara) Inter (antara) Inter (antara)	an The second second for a second second second second for a second second second second for a second second second second second for a second second second second second for a second second second second second second for a second second second second second second second for a second second second second second second second second for a second second second second second second second second second for a second second for a second secon		Mittalan (Mitta) 10. oli Mittala 10. oli Mittala 10. oli Mittala 10. oli Mittala 10. oli Mittala		Placety (ATA) Statistics for the destination (Interplacetor) (Interplacetor) (Interplacetor) (Interplacetor)	Filmer (Helm)	Pitagania urre y arra Bara falaria fala fala Joha falarita fala			
		Agrada ( 1014)	Repairs (Attal) 9 gad - Kall gad ( 9 gads - Att (pade	1918-1919	Repute (MAR) Inge -toth film ( Inge -toth film)	1	Realization Bartinovica, Anto Bar Talantar uti Calanta Santar uti Calanta		(MR (Jahor) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) )	unt advantation Brann Ante Param Ante - real Param Ante - real Ante Para Ante - real Ante Param Ante - real Ante Param Ante - real Ante Param Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - real Ante - read Ante - real Ante - real Ante - read Ante - r		En alben (mith) a sta unter (mith) stat unter (mith) stat unter (mith) stat unter (mith) En alben (stat)		Placety (MIR) Transfer South For Hor Placety (MIR) Placety (MIR) Jac, MIR South Jac, MIR South Placety (MIR)	riterijone) B Anetice fot tim Saar fot ture	Pitagasia atre jarra San Salat Sala Tana Salat Sala			
***		Nguala (1014) Rata (Josef)	Repairs (ana) B guda (ana gud) B guda an guda	Ingenie (MSM) Mr. Auf Mr.	Regnation (contras) (contras) - contras (contras) (contras) - contras) - contras) (contras) - contras) (contras) - contras) (contras) - contras)	Aquata (MIN) Refer Self Selger	Typerio (1970) 100 (1970) 10		Internet	ant Bill offensjonen Rese, ford forme Regi, att staf for Regi, att staf for Regi, att staf for Regi, att staf for	**	No olden (mild) a rate dan da rate dat dan da rate dat data bir rate dat data bir rate data (mild) No olden (mild) No olden (mild)	Kalkaderta (reta) Radio - Salia Alfi	Placety (All A) solar South Solar Anno Placety (All A) - Solar Solar Teles - Solar	Filmen (senar) S Ananiasan Asah Alan Rayana - Sath Braine	Pilopain urr ( 11) i sau touto tou tou John Julio Tou. Pilopain urr ( 11)		Mit of Marco (2010) Mit - Alf Marco (2010) Mit - Alf Marco (2010) Margo - Alf Marco (2010) Mit - A	
		Names ( 1914)	Agento (untre) Bigento (untre) Bigento (untre)	Papadar (Mill) Mill Add Sector	Nagundan (sentar) 19 mgan - Andre Yapan ( 19 mgan - Sentary (s Nagundan (sentar) 19 magan - Sentary (s)	Aquela (1811) Aquela (1811) Aquela Schladger	Tegratic (Atric)		an inter	State State of the second seco		ET class (min) 1.1. class (min) 1.1. class (min) 1.1. class (min) 2.1. class (min) 1.1. class (mi	National Party (1998)	Planety (All A) distinguistic and the distinguistic and the distinguistic and planety (All A) Planety (All A) Planety (All A) Planety (All A) Planety (All A)	Primeronia S Anaton Salt Status	Program over ( 100) Description over ( 100) Program over ( 100) Program over ( 100) Program over ( 100)		Mittanian (mitta) dir - diracitation resp. of magnitude resp. of magnitude resp. of magnitude resp. of magnitude resp. of magnitude diracitation (mittanian) resp. of magnitude diracitation (mittanian) diracitation (m	ancorrest Lange som saker
-	1 11 1 1 1 1	Nguaia (1914)   das Jacobs Fari Bas (das Jacobs		14000000000000000000000000000000000000	Nymes (anta) (right fuilt fight) (right fuilt fight) (right for the fight) (right for the fight) (right) (right) (right) (right)(right) (right) (right)(right)(right)	Aquata (1950) India - 2010 India - 2010	Paparine percent Paparine percent Paparine percent		(1991) (2010) 3 Alakatikan Anal Alay Tanga ata 1995 (2010) (1995) (2010) 3 Stanson Anal Stanson Tanga ata 1995 (2010)	and Bill observations for a state of the second for a state of the second for any of the		**************************************	Malaan ka postaj Malaan ka postaj Malaan ka ka postaj		Filmen (sone) Anania fast sine Rasso fast basis				
		Ngrada (1914)   del Succh. Sol Bar (del Succh. Sol Bar (del Succh. Sol Bar	(apartico (atract)) aparte Antonio parte artificato (atractico (atractico)) (atractico) (at	Fagenetic (Brite) Siles - auto stat Siles - auto stat	Agente (mini) (rigo del rigo) (rigo del rigo) Agente (mini) Agente (mini) (migo del rigo) Agente (mini)	Agentia (2000) Scigo, Scitt Scigo Status Calabianti Scigo, Scitt Science Sciences	Fegenica (1973) Statistica de la Calendaria Telebica de la Calendaria (Pasa (1965a) Pasa (1965a)	(Nuk jone) (rus tenes)	INT (DATE) Address Set No. Tage of the Set No. (NY) (Set N) Set (S	ant print where particip from a first frame frame, and the say frame,		NT VIAN (MIN) 177 - 100 Min et 178 - 100 Min e	Natura 10 (1014) Rata - Sata 10 Sata - Sata 10	Place (1997)	Praational Saturda fun dat Saturda fun dat	Program unit para la caracteria del caracteria Program unit para Program unit para P		Constant of the second se	Battonini Battonini Batton Antonini
		Agrada (1855) E del Succe. Salo Ball Salo Jarvan Mata (2010) Ball Succe. Salo Ball Salo (2010)	Agentin (MIN) 9 and Anti (MIN) 9 and Anti (MIN) 9 and anti (MIN) 9 Anti-Anti (MIN) 9 Anti-Anti (MIN)		Ngunte (contro) () robe - futor type 1 roby - of roby patients Ngunte (contro) 2) rober type - of roby patients roby - of roby patients	Agente (2010) Inde, Schlader Bart (2010) (Schlader) Schlader (2010) Bart (2010) Bart (2010) Bart (2010)	Pageatrice (1997-10) Rest Columnia, Serie Rest Rest Columnia, Serie Rest Pageatrice (1997-10) Pageatrice (		In an	ent stransport	-	ET stan prist	Villado DE (1914) Robert DE (1914) Robert DE (1914) Statute et al diffe	Plauty (818) 1 Salahan Salahan Plauty (818) 1 Salahan Salahan Salahan Salah Salahan 1 Salah Salah 1 Salah 1 Salah Salah 1 Salah 1 Salah Salah 1 Salah Salah 1	Plantjone Station for the India Set State	Plaques of a long best stores and an international store and international stores fraques of the store fraques of		Fill office (profile time of the second trap	Bet carrel Bet carrel Betwee Aust tablet
		Agente (1014) Sen Saccio del Sac Saccio del Saccio del Sac Saccio del Saccio del Sac Matterio del Saccio del Sac	1		Agente (sonto) inge etcinopolica inge etcinopolica Agente (sonto) inge etcinopolica inge etcinopolica	Appele (2010) Hard Carl Mage Hard Carl Makage (2010) Makage (2010) Jack (2010) Jack (2010)	Pageal a (2014) Table (2014) Table (2014) Table (2014) Table (2014) Table (2014) Table (2014)			ER and have given by Prove and Prove They are find that you they are the prove they are the prove they are the prove they are the prove	<b></b>	Min without (princip) Min and a strategy of the strategy of t	Salkada 18 junio Katao kasa ka Ana kasa ka Katao kasa ka Katao kasa ka	Plands (2018) Statute Statute And Stat Plands Statute Statute Plands Statut	Prinari (anta) Ib Alasilana Anta Ana Rakka, Ant Suda			Distance (man) State Characteria State Characteri	Million Million
		Agente (1914) Mal March Mari San San (1916) Mari Santo Mari Santo Mari Santo	Agame (MM) god Alf (M) god Alf	Fagnado ( 1915) 100 - 640 1011 100 - 640 1011 100 - 640 104 100 - 640 100 100 - 640 100 100 - 640 - 640 100 100 - 640 100 - 640 100 100 - 640 100 - 640 1000	Neganite (sinth) () right film fight ( ) right (sinth fight ( ) right ( ) right (sinth fight ( ) right ( ) righ	Ngania (2000) Nelja Joži Skoji Nelja Joži Skoji Glada Joži Skoji Jana Skola	Figure (a (1973)) Rest (allocations) (and the Rest (allocations) (and the Rest (allocations) (Rest (allocations)) (Rest (alloca		(1991) (1992) (1992) (1992) (1993) (1992) (1992) (1993) (	and and when chart for any former - could be need to be a start for any other and the start of the any of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the start of the	ai 	KT VLAT (PTA)	Robusto De gentej Nativa - Russa Kol La constanta da seconda seconda da seconda seconda da seconda second e seconda da seconda d	Placety (drift) and cause of the set placety (drift) procession cause and a set cause placety (drift) placety (drift) placety (drift) placety (drift)	Plastjoke) 9 Autor for de	Plaques vit 1 0 v has been been and has been		All Albert ganget Alb	Material Balance Sales adars
		Agasta (MAS) Maria Sauca, Sala Bar das Jaron Maria Sauca Maria Sauca Maria Sauca	1	Тарино (1914) 100- дел (1914) 100- дел (1914) 100- дел (1914) 100- дел (1914) 100- дел (1914)	Aquela (mili) (%) of a sin type ( (%) of type (%) (%) of type (%) of type (%) (%) of type (%) of type (%) (%) of type (%) of type (%) of type (%) (%) of type (%)	Agencia (2010) Jacka - Sch Sullays Barder - Sch Sullays	Equate (MVA) State South - Not the State South - Not Table (State (MVA)) (State (MVA)) (State (MVA)) (State (MVA)) (State (MVA)) (State (MVA))		IN COMPANY NAME OF A DECISION NAME OF A DECISION NAME OF A DECISION IN COMPANY IN COM	A 20 A 20	ar 	Strategie (minist)	Villado 10 (1016) Ratas - Satas Ad Antonio - Al Antonio Antonio - Al Antonio Antonio Antonio - Al Antonio Antonio Antonio - Al Antonio Antoni			Pringues off ( 21) Second of the second of		Processory (mark) More and the second seco	BALCONTAL Salaya Andrea Salaya Andrea Salaya Andrea
		Agente (min) la de la color de la des adriges Austa ganta de la color de la de la color de la de la color de la	Papara provi 2 Sud Ant Sud ( Sud Ant Sud ( Sud Ant Sud ( Sud	Agentic ( Birle) may a drift ( Birle) may a drift ( Birle) may a drift ( Birle) ( Birle) Agentic ( Birle) Agentic ( Birle) May a drift ( Birle)	Names (1993) In Table - Schlift Speel - Integer - Schlift Speel - Magnetic (1993) Magnetic (1993) Magnetic (1993) Magnetic (1993) Magnetic (1993)	Aqueta (2010) baga statuta and statuta and statuta gi tatus statuta and statuta	Pagentes (1975) Bara subura, Alta Bara Pagentes (1976) Pagentes (1976)			and set adam terret terret adam terret terret adam terret terret adam terret terret adam terret terret adam terret terret terret terret set adam terret tere	a) 	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		Theory (2018) Section of the section Theory (2018)	Prinatrijeticki Statistica Andre Statistica Statistica - Safe Statistica				****** ****
540 S		Agusta (1914) Matsucce, stat Ran das socias Matsucces Matsucces Matsucces Matsucces Matsucces	Agence (MAN) B Sold ANT (MAN) S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S		Agenda (2010) Tagenda (2010) Tagenda (2010) Agenda (2010) Agen			(Mar (Mar)) (France Josef Indee (France Josef Indee (France Josef Indee (France Josef Indee) (France Josef Indee)		and a scheme sch	4 - 4 - 4 - 4	Product (product)	Nationalise State (1975-164) Biocelana, Biocelana Alian Operator (1988-164) (27)		Prost-poor	Programme units ( ) 10 mg man and an angel ( ) 10 mg Programme units ( )		Att offers (antis) att offers (attack trap of impacts trap of impacts trap of impacts filling attacks filling attacks	Matterief
		Typela (2005) Bar Austra Intel Bar San Jit (2005) Bar Santa Intel Bar Santa Januari	(1000)	Agendic ( 2014) response ( 2014) response ( 2014) response ( 2014) Pagendic ( 2014) Agendic ( 2014) Ag	Nepada (2010) In Taba - Schl Age ( Integer	Aqueta (2000) baga da baban te da baban Baban da baban da baban	Pagentino (1971) Barra suburtar, Santa Barra Pagentaria (1971) Pagentaria (1971) Page	Picar (101 K) (Picar Satt Indu- (Picar Satt Indu- Picar Satt In			a)			Theorem (1997) Theorem	Primerjonist Statistics for the Indian Statistics				*******
		Agrada (1914) Bal Kauda (1914) Bal Kauda (1914) Bal Kauda (1914) Bal Kauda (1914) Bal Kauda (1914) Bal	August (1999) B Sold (1999) S Sold		Negatine (content) (r referse - for the register ( register - content) Register (content) de anno susses, statut of the register (content) de anno susses, statut of the register (content) content of the register (conte			Price per al (rice and all rice) (rice and all rice) (rice) (rice and all rice) (rice		and advancement and advancement advancemen		Product (product)	Reference to a post-of-		Prost (sour)	Program units (197 ) Birls Trans and the second se		Att offers (antis) att offers (attack) inge att between the inge att between the inge attack offers inge attack offers i	Matterief
-		Typella (min) Ban Jacob Statu Ban Jacob Statu Jacob St		Agendic (MACH) Mage de Calego Margo de Calego Telepolario Agenda calego Agenda calego Agen	Aquata (1955) 1 (Aquata (1955) Aquata (1955) Aquata (1955) Aquata (1955) Aquata (1955) Aquata (1955) Aquata (1955) Aquata (1955) Aquata (1955)	Aquata (1010) Tel and the Market and Alarge and Alar Alarge and Alar Alar Alar	Equate protein Marcale and an faile Part of the second seco	(Margana) (Margana)	Control (1999)		**	All situat (antic) antice of the second sec	Talkan IV (1994)						
		Nguna (1914) Ba Laka, Kat An San Artika Mar Jahan Jaha Jahan					Pagasta (1975) Pasalanta (1976) Pasalanta (197			An and a second		Construction C							
		Nyana (1994) San Arian San		Append (MAI) map of Tappen Tap of Tappen Tap of Tappen Tap of Tappen Tap of Tappen Tappe	Squate (cont) In the scale (cont) Squate (cont)	Agenta (MAR) An an an An an An An an An An an An An An An An An An An An An An An An	Segura (MTC) Sectoria Anthony March (MTC) Sectoria Anthony Sectoria Anthony March (MTC) Sectoria Anthon		100 (1000) 1 million (1000) 1 million (1000) 1 million (1000) 1 million (1000) 1 million (1000) 2 million (1000)										
800 761		News (citis) In Course, San Ann San Anna, San Anna San Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna An	Imparts (FICE)       Imparts (FICE)       Impact (FICE)		Aguan (mini) h agu anna (mini) Aguan (mini	Ngwa yata Mata ata ata ata ata ata Mata ata ata Mata ata ata				100 101 (100-001) 100-000 (100-000) 100-000 (100-000) 100-0000 (100-000) 100-0000 (100-000) 100-0000 (100-000) 100-0000 (100-0000) 100-0000 (100-0000) 100-0	es es es es es verses v			Principality (1) Instance particular (1) Ins				The second secon	
848		Agust ( Stat) Sauth	Igenice (1997)		Nyana (Mini Baga Antaga (Mini Baga Antaga (Mini Agasa (Mini Mini Agasa (Mini Agasa (Mini M					100 Million (1997) 100 Mi	es es es es es es es es es es es es es e			Planny (HI)				Are obtained and the second se	
941					Neuros portes integra de la del terres integra de la del terres de la del					A 19 A 19									
•••		Nara anti-	Newson	Equation (1997) Strategiese (1997)	Neuron (series) Register (serie			International and a second and		الله المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المح المحالية المحالية المح المحالية المحالية المح المحالية المحالية المح المحالية المحالية المح المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالي	ere ere and and and and and and and and and and								
500 T		Nyana a cana a ana ang	Agence Joseph a de la Alla de la a de la Alla de la Alla de la Alla de la a de la Alla de la Al	Ageneration Segue	Names and the second se			(Marana arana) (Marana arana) (Marana arana) (Marana arana) (Maran		الله المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المح المحالية المحالية المح المحالية المحالية المح المحالية المحالية المح المحالية المحالية المح المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالية المحالي								An extension of the second sec	
-										A Distance of the second secon	4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5								
900 9 70 1		Next a SMU Marcine								الله المحالية المح	es es es es es es es es es es es es es e								
944 941				Againe (Mar) Segurar (Mar) Segurar (Mar) Segurar (Mar) Segurar (Mar) Againe (Mar)						عند المحالية محالية المحالية ال محالية المحالية المحالي محالية المحالية ا محالية محالية المحالية المحالية محالي محالي محالية المحالية محالي محالي محالية محالية محال	تلا المحالية المح محالية المحالية الم محالية محالية المحالية محالي محالية محالية محل محاليحمالي محالي محاليمانية محالية محاليمانية مححاليية مححاليية مححالي							An entropy of the second secon	
900 901		Next a (2011) a tracket and a second second secon		A general (Share) and a state of the state and a state of the state of the state and a state of the state	Newson (Series) The Series (Series) Newson (Series) Ne					لل المحمد ا محمد المحمد المحممد المحمد الم	at at at at at at at at at at								
200 701			Aquera protein a de la contraction de la contract	Aquita ( 1947) (1947)       Aquita ( 1947)       Aquita ( 1947) <td></td> <td>Aquina (MAR) Marka (MAR) Mark</td> <td></td> <td>Autor and an an</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Production (1996)       Production (1996)</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		Aquina (MAR) Marka (MAR) Mark		Autor and an						Production (1996)					
944 9 1944		Name a constitue de la constitue de la la constitue de la constit		Agrican an Andri Sangara Carlos Sangara Carlos Sang	Aparts (1997) Aparts			A SECTION AND A		All and a second a	at at at at at at at at at at	A Construction A Construction A Construction		Prevent sectors a sector sectors a sector sectors a sector sector a		Angewart of the second se			
761			A general sectors A general sec	A general (Anite) Service (Anite) Service (Anite) A service (Anite)						All All and a second and a sec	a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	A second se							
944 9 1944		Newson (1997)	A service service	Vester and the second s	Nette parte Nette			I maran maran I maran I maran maran I								Angenerica (and a second and a second a			
900 900		Agento a como de la como en este a actual de la como en este actual de la como ente actual de la como ente acomo ente actual de la como ente actual de la c	Name and a set of the	Agence (MA) Segueration (MA)		Aques (MA) Autor and Autor Autor and Autor Autor and Autor A		Server and management of the server of the s		A Statements A				Control of the second sec					
901 701		Nest a const a constant of the a constant of the	Second Second	A species ( bit) internet internet internet internet and		Apres 200 and 200 a				All and a second	a a b b b b b b b b b b	Contraction Contracti		Antony 2019 Antony 20				Image: State	
-				Aquest ( M.) Toronto						and and a second				Advances		Angenerative parts Angenerative part			
900 900		Ryana ( Mari) Marana ( Mari) Marina ( Mari)	Version and the second	Agenta (MAR) Margarian Santaria Tea and a santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria Santaria		Nguta (MM) Internet (MM) Inter		Constant of the second		All and			All and the problem All and the problem All and the problem	Control (1997) Control					

15

# 5.3 Test Infrastructure

# 5.3.1 Remote Test Infrastructure

Pre-testing was remote and mandatory for all participants. Remote pre-testing was enabled with HIVE (Hub for Interoperability and Validation at ETSI). All the participating companies and labs were connected to ETSI via VPN, with ETSI playing the role of a VPN Hub.



16

Figure 2. Remote test infrastructure (pre-testing)

Integration of remote equipment started several months before the Plugfest. Remote integration and pre-testing progress was discussed during weekly conference calls with participants and tracked in the Plugfest wiki.

# 5.3.2 Local Test Infrastructure

A few days before the Plugfest, the local test infrastructure was deployed by ETSI at Orange Labs to enable participating companies to bring their equipment locally. Local deployment of equipment under test was a requirement for Mobility and SON scenarios. All the other topics could be tested remotely.

#### ETSI CTI Plugtests Report V0.1.0 (2014-06)



Figure 3. Plugtest infrastructure

# 5.3.3 Mobility Test infrastructure

The mobility test infrastructure included an eight port programmable attenuator that allowed to run 2 Mobility test sessions in parallel. During the Plugfest preparation it was decided to dedicate one of them to Mobility with macro eNB (Hand-over from Small Cell to macro eNB and back) and the second to multi-vendor mobility (hand-over from Small Cell to Small Cell).

17



#### 5.3.4.1 Mobility with macro

This setup allowed to test hand-over scenarios between Small Cells and macro eNBs provided by Orange. Up to 4 macro eNBs from different vendors operating in different frequency bands were available for the Plugfest. In addition 2 ePCs from different vendors were provided to support this setup. This setup allowed to test S1 and X2 based intra and inter-frequency hand-over procedures.

Macro eNBs had been previously configured in order to see Small Cells under test as neighbour cells. Small Cell vendors could choose the eNB and ePC that they wanted to test with, or, when time permitted, test with several macro ePCs and/or eNBs.

#### 5.3.4.2 Multi-vendor Mobility

This setup allowed to test hand-over scenarios from one vendor's Small Cell to another vendor's Small Cell. Small Cell vendors were requested to agree on the ePC to be used as well as to decide on the usage of HeNB-GW and SeGW to complete the test setup.

This setup allowed to test S1 and X2 based intra and inter-frequency hand-over procedures, depending on the features supported by the Small Cells.

18

# 5.3.4 SON Test infrastructure

The SON test infrastructure was very similar to the Mobility test infrastructure, and included 2 programmable attenuators, one providing 5 ports and the other one providing 4 ports, which allowed to run 2 SON test sessions in parallel. During the Plugfest preparation it was decided to dedicate one of them to SON with macro eNB and the second one to multi-vendor SON.

19

#### 5.3.4.1 SON with macro

This setup allowed to test SON scenarios with macro eNBs provided by Orange. Up to 4 macro eNBs from different vendors operating in different frequency bands were available for the Plugfest. In addition 2 ePCs from different vendors were provided to support this setup. This setup allowed to test PCI, ANR, MRO, and CCO based SON test cases.

Small Cell vendors could choose the eNB and ePC that they wanted to test with, or, when time permitted, test with several macro ePCs and/or eNBs. For test cases requiring 2 Small Cells (PCI) the second Small Cell was provided by the same vendor.



#### 5.3.4.2 Multi-vendor SON

This setup allowed to test SON scenarios among Small Cells from different vendors. Small Cell vendors were requested to agree on the ePC to be used as well as to decide on the usage of HeMS, HeNB-GW and SeGW to complete the test setup.

This setup allowed to test PCI, ANR, MRO, and CCO based SON test cases, depending on the features supported by the Small Calls. For test cases requiring 3 Small Cells (PCI) the third Small Cell was provided by one of the two vendors participating in the test session.



# 5.3.5 CSFB Test Infrastructure

Testing of voice calls and emergency calls following Circuit Switch Fall-Back feature was enabled. The test setup was configured with a UTRAN NodeB and 3G core coupled with one of the ePCs provided by Orange, as depicted in the schema:



3G signal was provided with a radio cable connected into a shielded box that was be able to host participants' Small Cell and UE. Once in the shielded box, UE manipulation was possible through gloves, as shown in the picture:



Emergency call testing was also enabled in this setup by the translation of the Emergency number (112) into an E164 number (01 44 21 10 86).

# 5.2.2 CMAS Test Infrastructure

In order to test Commercial Mobile Alert System, a Cell Broadcast Centre was integrated with 2 of the ePCs available for the Plugfest, as depicted in the figure below. Alert messages broadcast through Small cells was tested with and without HeNB-GWs.



## 5.3.6 IMS Test Infrastructure

Voice and Video over LTE testing was enabled by the integration of IMS cores into some of the available ePCs. When these ePCs were remote, the whole system was available remotely through ETSI HIVE as depicted in the figure below:



Voice over LTE requires an MMtel Application Server in the IMS infrastructure to provide the functions related to voice applications (supplementary services) for mobile equipment.

In addition, to provide voice and video over LTE, the core network needs to support Policy management and QoS and be able to handle dedicated bearers, allow to limit congestion and to enhance the service quality.

Default bearers provide non-guaranteed bit rate (non-GBR). For services that do not require IMS, the QoS parameter stems from the HSS configuration. For example Internet access will use a priority with QCI 9 (see Table below). For services based on IMS, there is a link between the Application Server and the PCRF (which manages the QoS and billing policy). Through this link, and the configuration associated with the requested service, the LTE network can establish the necessary dedicated bearers with the appropriate QoS (QCI value). The Default Bearer is obtained during the attach process, and ensures continuous IP connectivity.

Dedicated bearers are obtained on demand, when it is required to carry guaranteed bit rate (GBR) for certain delaysensitive services, such as voice or video. The same dedicated bearer is used in case of multiple concurrent voice sessions (as in call waiting, conference supplementary services, etc...).

In a VoLTE session, the following three bearers are used:

- Bearer with QCI 9: Default bearer created when connecting to the network.
- Bearer with QCI5: Bearer created for IMS signalling (SIP messages) as soon as the connection to the IMS APN is established.

Bearer with QCI1: This bearer is created once the voice session has been successfully initiated, to ensure audio . transport (RTP messages)

QCI	Resource Type	Priority	Packet Delay Budget	Packet Loss Rate	Example Services
1	GBR	2	100 ms	10 -2	Conversational Voice
2		4	150 ms	10 -3	Conversational Video (Live Streaming)
3		3	50 ms	10 -3	Real Time Gaming
4		5	300 ms	10 -6	Non-Conversational Video (Buffered Streaming)
5	Non-GBR	1	100 ms	10 -6	IMS Signalling
6		6	300 ms	10 -6	-Video (Buffered Streaming) -TCP-based (for example, www, e-mail, chat, FTP, P2P file sharing, progressive video, and so forth)
7		7	100 ms	10-3	-Voice -Video (Live Streaming) -Interactive Gaming
8		8	300 ms	10 -6	-Video (Buffered Streaming) -TCP-based (for example, www, e-mail, chat, FTP, P2P file sharing, progressive video, etc).
9		9	300 ms	10 -6	

The table below summarized the QCIs used for IMS services:

Standardized QCI Characteristics (from 3GPP TS 23.203)

#### 5.3.7 Security Test Infrastructure

A Public Key Infrastructure (PKI) setup was created for the Plugtest as depicted in the figure below. It was explicitly mentioned that the root certificate and Certificate Authority (CA) certificates were only to be used in the scope of the Plugfest.



The PKI setup consisted of the following certification authorities:

Self-signed Root CA

23

• Trusted Issuing CA

All the certificates provided for the event followed X.509v3 and contained a validity restriction of type "time\_start\_and\_end" with:

- $\circ$  Start time = Generation time
- o Validity of 1 year

#### 5.3.7.1 Procedure to obtain certificates

In order to perform positive security tests each Device Under Test (DUT: HeNBs, HeNB-GWs, SeGWs ...) needed to follow these steps:

24

- 1. The equipment vendor sent an email to the Plugtest mailing list <u>SMALL\_CELL\_LTE\_PLUGFEST\_2@LIST.ETSI.ORG</u> stating its wish to run security tests
- 2. The ETSI team registered it with the ETSI CA server and sent back an enrolment code by email

3.1 If the DUT supported Certificate Management Protocol (CMPv2), it retrieved the device certificate via CMPv2.

3.2 If the DUT could issue a Certificate Signing Request (CSR) it was requested to go to <a href="http://ca.plugtests.net:8080/ejbca/">http://ca.plugtests.net:8080/ejbca/</a> and to follow the instructions to obtain a Privacy Enhanced Mail (PEM)

#### 5.3.7.2 Secure connection call flow

The following figure depicts the secure connection call flow.



All the messages in the call flow above were exchanged within a VPN tunnel. The VPN tunnel acts as Transport layer for all the nodes including the SeGW to connect to the ETSI HIVE.

25

Call Flow details:

- 1. SeGW connects to the ETSI CA server via CMPv2 protocol or manually to fetch the ETSI Certificate.
- 2. (omitted) HeNB connects to the security gateway with temporary, pre-assigned keys, e.g. PSK or self-signed certificates with mutual roots installed in SecGW and small cells
- 3. HeNB connects to the ETSI CA server via CMPv2 protocol or manually to fetch the ETSI Certificate.
- 4. HeNB establishes IPsec tunnel with SeGW using IKEv2 protocol and ETSI certificate
- 5. HeNB registers with HeNB Gateway over the Secured tunnel with SeGW. All further communication like UE registration, re-registration /redirection, etc continues via secured IPsec tunnel though SeGW.
- 6. HeNB establishes SCTP/ S1 link to the EPC via the secured tunnel through the SeGW. All further communication on S1AP continues via the secured IPsec tunnel

#### 5.3.6 Tracing

A complex tracing system was put in place to allow monitoring and correlating messages exchanged between both local and remote equipment. For debugging purposes, it was important to be able to correlate the messages exchanged between the equipment under test with the messages exchanged through the ePCs' internal interfaces. This was especially challenging in case of remote ePCs, where the messages exchanged on the internal interfaces were not meant to be routed through the Plugfest test infrastructure. A specific VPN setup was put in place with the organisations providing remote ePCs to enable the rerouting of these messages through the probe. The schema below depicts the observed interfaces in case of a test session including a remote ePC.



In the case of ePCs deployed locally at Orange Labs, all the traffic through the internal interfaces was mirrored and made available to the probe via a 1Gbps Ethernet link.

The schema below depicts the observed interfaces in case of a test session including an ePC deployed locally.



A centralized independent monitoring solution was used to collect messages from all Access and Core Network interfaces simultaneously, performing real time end-to-end monitoring.

This way, it was possible to follow the message flow for a single user or a single call throughout the network in real time, highlighting problems (and possible solutions) in a fast and effective way.

The picture below highlights an example of Multi-Vendor test involving SON, captured by the above mentioned tracing solution.

NAS	Activate default EPS bearer context accept
S1AP	E_RABSetupResponse
NAS	Activate default EPS bearer context accept
S1AP	ENBConfigurationTransfer
S1AP	ENBConfigurationTransfer
S1AP	MMEConfigurationTransfer
S1AP	ENBConfigurationTransfer
S1AP	MMEConfigurationTransfer
S1AP	MMEConfigurationTransfer
X2AP	X2SetupRequest
X2AP	X2SetupResponse
X2AP	HandoverRequest
X2AP	HandoverRequestAcknowledge
X2AP	SNStatusTransfer
S1AP	PathSwitchRequest
S1AP	PathSwitchRequestAcknowledge

26

# 5.4 Interoperability Test Procedure

## 5.4.1 Pre-testing procedure

Companies were requested to run remote integration and pre-testing as follows:

- 1. Provide configuration parameter values to ETSI Team
  - $\checkmark$  Configuration information was compiled and made available in the wiki
- 2. Set VPN with ETSI HIVE. Ping ETSI ping host.
  - ✓ VPN creation status was tracked in the wiki
- 3. If supporting 3GPP IPsec, request and obtain an ETSI certificate

=> Security Certificates delivery status was tracked in the wiki.

- 4. ePC vendors deliver SIM cards to HeNB vendors, which confirm reception
  - ✓ SIM cards delivery status was tracked in the wiki

Once a vendor had achieved remote connectivity, obtained the security certificate and received SIM cards (if applicable), it was considered to be ready for pre-testing.

- 5. SeGW, HeNBGW, ePC, HeMS vendors announced their availability for supporting pre-testing
  - ✓ Support availability and time-zone was tracked in the wiki
- 6. (H)eNB vendors announced their targeted pre-testing slots (in accordance with supporting vendors availability)
  - ✓ Targeted/completed test slots were tracked in the wiki
- 7. (H)eNB vendors run through the pre-testing test list and indicated when the pre-testing (for the concerned equipment combination) was completed without specifying the results.
- 8. For completed Test Sessions, detailed results were entered to the TRT during the Plugfest.

# 5.4.2 Face-to-Face testing procedure

During the setup session at the beginning of the face-to-face Plugfest, vendors that were bringing their equipment locally to the Plugfest venue, integrated it to the local test network and tested the connectivity with other local or remote equipment. Vendors that kept their equipment remote, just needed to re-check connectivity.

After this 4 hour session dedicated to local equipment setup and integration, connectivity among all the participating equipment, local or remote, had been successfully validated.

The Plugfest schedule determined the test sessions to be run. The procedure to be followed during a face-to-face session was as follows:

- 1. Login to the Test Reporting Tool. This will display the Plugfest schedule and identify the applicable test session.
- 2. When applicable, complete the list of supporting equipment involved test session. As an example, for some test sessions it was up to the vendors to decide on the ePC to be used.
- 3. Verify connectivity among all the involved equipment.
- 4. Choose a Test Session Secretary who is in charge of reporting the results. Usually the HeNB vendor was in charge of this role.
- 5. Open the Test Session Report.
- 6. Run the first test according to the detailed test case description.

- 7. Check that messages are exchanged as expected.
- 8. Determine and report test result in the Test Session Report.

OK - Test Successful. Expected result obtained

NOK – Test not successful. Check monitoring tools to identify source of error. Enter comment in the Test Session Report without explicitly referencing participating companies or products.

NA - Feature not applicable or not implemented by one or several of the involved parties. Enter comment.

- 9. Run next test.
- 10. Once all the tests planned for the test session are run, all the involved parties verify and accept the test session report.

# 6 Interoperability Results

# 6.1 Results Overview

The table below provides the overall results from all the test cases run by all the companies during the Plugfest. A total of 2124 test results were entered by participants, from which 1370 (64.5 %) were actually executed.

The execution rate above 64%, while acceptable should be improved for future events. This figure can be explained by the larger scope of this year's event, as well as by the incorporation of some new features and test cases that were being targeted for the very first time. The non-executed test cases correspond either to non-implemented features (NA) or to companies running out of time during the test sessions (OT).

Enhancing the test execution rate of SON, MOB and SEC test cases should be a goal for future events.

Interoper	ability	Not Ex	ecuted	Totals	
OK	NO	NA	ОТ	Run	Results
1283 (93.6%)	87 (6.4%)	507 (23.9%)	247 (11.6%)	1370 (64.5%)	2124

#### **Table 1: Results Overview**

The PASS rate (Interoperability – OK) of above 93 % indicates a very satisfactory level of interoperability of the products and the high skills of participating companies in preparing and executing the test cases.

The failure rate of 6.4%, which is very acceptable, can be explained by software bugs and implementation errors that could not be fixed during before the end of the Plugfest as well as some ambiguities or errors in standards.

# 6.2 Results per Test Group

The table below provides the results for each test group in the scope of the Plugfest. Following sections intend to analyze and understand these results.

	Interope	erability	Not Ex	ecuted	Totals		
	OK	NO	NA	ОТ	Run	Results	
CSFB	37 (97.4%)	1 (2.6%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	38 (100.0%)	38	
HeMS	316 (98.1%)	6 (1.9%)	57 (14.0%)	28 (6.9%)	322 (79.1%)	407	
SON	12 (66.7%)	6 (33.3%)	4 (8.5%)	25 (53.2%)	18 (38.3%)	47	
MOB	29 (53.7%)	25 (46.3%)	39 (32.8%)	26 (21.8%)	54 (45.4%)	119	
Regression	688 (94.5%)	40 (5.5%)	227 (21.6%)	94 (9.0%)	728 (69.4%)	1049	
CMAS	30 (85.7%)	5 (14.3%)	6 (13.6%)	3 (6.8%)	35 (79.5%)	44	
SEC	142 (97.3%)	4 (2.7%)	78 (28.5%)	50 (18.2%)	146 (53.3%)	274	
IMS	10 (100.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (9.1%)	0 (0.0%)	10 (90.9%)	11	

#### Table 2: Results per test groups.

## 6.2.1 CSFB

Voice calls via Circuit Switch Fall-Back scheme were in scope of a Plugfest for the first time. While the amount of available test cases was relatively small, the execution level (100%) and the interoperability level (97%) are very satisfactory and encouraging. It would be advisable to extend the number of test cases to include mobile terminated scenarios.

## 6.2.2 HeMS

Test results of the management interface test group, with an execution rate close to 80% and an interoperability level above 98% reflect a good integration between HeMS and HeNB vendors. The 14% of Not-Applicable (NA) results can be explained by pico/micro eNBs not supporting TR-069 EMS management and some level of incompleteness in standards. Next Plugfest could focus in achieving an industrial common standard in provisioning HeNBs.

30

# 6.2.3 SON

Self-Organizing Networks Test Cases were in the scope of the Plugfest for the first time, which explains the relatively low execution rate (38%) and interoperability level (66%). The main reasons for these relatively low rates was the lack of support from macro eNB vendors. Test cases and test setup are expected to be refined for future events as companies get familiar with this test group. An improvement in these results can be expected in future events.

# 6.2.4 MOB

Mobility test group is one of the most challenging in terms of preparation, configuration, lab setup and tools, which explains the low execution rate (45%) and interoperability level (53%). As for SON testing, the lack of support from macro eNB vendors is causing long ramp-up periods and misconfiguration problems. These issues were largely discussed with participants during and after the Plugfest, and it was agreed to proceed to a thorough review of both the lab requirements and test cases.

# 6.2.5 Regression

Although the interoperability level (94%) is very satisfactory for regression testing, the relatively low execution rate (69%), while acceptable, indicated that these test cases need to be kept in the scope of future Plugfests. Moreover, the test cases could be extended to include more complicated scenarios. A revision of the existing test cases could also be advisable.

# 6.2.6 CMAS

Commercial Mobile Alert Systems test case were included in the scope of a Plugfest for the very first time. Given this, and that this scenario involves most of the participating equipment in the signaling path (UE, HeNB, HeNB-GW, ePC and CBC) the execution rate of 79% and interoperability level above 85% can be considered as very satisfactory.

# 6.2.7 SEC

Security test cases have been in the scope of the Plugfest for now 5 times. Security test cases were aimed to be executed during the pre-testing phase, remotely. The low execution rate (53%) can be explained by pico/micro cells not implementing IPSec (e.g. relying on satellite link encryption), and/or participating companies focusing in new topics added to the scope of the Plugfest more recently.

### 6.2.8 IMS

IMS testing, with voice and video call over LTE, were explicitly part of the Plugfest scope for the very first time. However this test group was added to the Plugfest test list relatively late in the Plugfest preparation process, and only included 2 very high level test cases, which were to be considered as optional for participants. To smooth the testing, IMS cores were pre-integrated and supported by the same organizations providing the ePCs. All these explains the high execution rate (90%) and interoperability levels (100%).

# 7 Plugfest Outcome

# 7.1 Feedback on Base Specifications

The following sections describe the base spec issues discovered during the Plugfest.

# 7.1.1 3GPP TS 36.413

Item	Section	Issue Descrip	Corrective Proposal				
Cell Identity in E-UTRAN CGI.	9.2.1.38	The number the eNB ID i section 9.2.1 "9.2.1.38 This informa 36.401 [2]).	Add the number of leftmost bits of the Cell Identity corresponding to the eNB ID.				
		IE/Group Name	Pres enc e	Ran ge	IE type and reference	Semantics description	
		PLMN Identity	М		9.2.3.8		
		Cell Identity	М		BIT STRING (28)	<b>The leftmost bits</b> of the Cell Identity correspond to the eNB ID (defined in subclause 9.2.1.37).	



# 7.1.2 3GPP TS 29.168 and TS 36.300

TS 29.168 and TS 36.300 both have the MME using TAI-based routing of messages, particularly in the case of a HeNB-GW being present. In the case of a HeNB-GW it will register with the MME as an eNB with the capability to support up to 256 different TACs in the S1 registration message. However, a HeNB-GW is intended to support many thousands of HeNBs. A question for 3GPP is whether it is intended by 3GPP that a HeNB-GW should support more than 256 different TACs amongst the HeNBs connecting to it?

31

# 7.2 Feedback on Test Specifications

### 7.2.1 CSFB

CSFB test cases should be extended to include:

- mobile terminated calls
- CSFB based emergency calls

## 7.2.2 HeMS

The following test cases were removed from the test execution list because the SeGW and Serving HeMS were not part of the test configuration:

32

- TC/HeMS/CMP/03 Configuration Management Procedure IPSec tunnel IP address change
- TC/HeMS/Discovery/01 Serving HeMS Discovery via initial HeMS accessible inside operator
- TC/HeMS/Discovery/02 Serving HeMS Discovery via initial HeMS accessible on the public Int

## 7.2.3 SON

Remote pre-testing was not possible for this feature which requires the equipment under test (small cells) to be physically close to each other and/or to the macro eNBs. SON test cases could only be run during the face 2 face test sessions: in order to maximize the benefits of the Plugfest, the following tests cases (which are somehow similar to the ones that were executed) were removed from the test execution list:

- DSON/MRO/03
- DSON/MRO/04
- DSON/MRO/07
- DSON/MRO/10
- DSON/MRO/13
- DSON/MRO/21
- DSON/CCO/02

### 7.2.4 MOB

Test reporting on mobility test cases was sometimes inconsistent, due to different interpretations from participants of the mix of references to small cells, femtocells and macro cells in the test descriptions. It was decided to rework the test cases in a generic way (i.e. source cell, target cell) and to create explicit test cases in the test execution list for each of the possible combinations and test groups:

- 1. Mobility with macro:
  - 1.1. S1
    - 1.1.1. Intra-frequency
      - 1.1.1.1. Hand-out: Small Cell to macro
      - 1.1.1.2. Hand-in: macro to Small Cell
    - 1.1.2. Inter-frequency
      - 1.1.2.1. Hand-out: Small Cell to macro

1.1.2.2. Hand-in: macro to Small Cell

1.2. X2

- 1.2.1. Intra-frequency
  - 1.2.1.1. Hand-out: Small Cell to macro
  - 1.2.1.2. Hand-in: macro to Small Cell
- 1.2.2. Inter-frequency
  - 1.2.2.1. Hand-out: Small Cell to macro
  - 1.2.2.2. Hand-in: macro to Small Cell
- 2. Multi-vendor Mobility:
  - 2.1. S1
    - 2.1.1. Intra-frequency
      - 2.1.1.1. Hand-out: Small Cell 1 to Small Cell 2
      - 2.1.1.2. Hand-in: Small Cell 2 to Small Cell 1
    - 2.1.2. Inter-frequency
      - 2.1.2.1. Hand-out: Small Cell 1 to Small Cell 2
      - 2.1.2.2. Hand-in: Small Cell 2 to Small Cell 1
  - 2.2. X2
    - 2.2.1. Intra-frequency
      - 2.2.1.1. Hand-out: Small Cell 1 to Small Cell 2
      - 2.2.1.2. Hand-in: Small Cell 2 to Small Cell 1
    - 2.2.2. Inter-frequency
      - 2.2.2.1. Hand-out: Small Cell 1 to Small Cell 2
      - 2.2.2.2. Hand-in: Small Cell 2 to Small Cell 1

It could also be advisable to include HeNB-GW (when applicable) in the MOB test configurations, and to consider testing intra and inter gateway mobility.

## 7.2.5 Regression

The following test cases were removed from the test execution list because there was no UE that implemented the service which triggers the requested behaviour:

- SVC/LTEPS/02 UE initiated ERAB establishment
- SVC/LTEPS/05 UE initiated ERAB release

It was discussed a possible extension on the regression test group to include more complex scenarios.

### 7.2.6 CMAS

It would be advisable to include HeNB-GW (when applicable) in the CMAS test configurations, as its presence mayhave an impact in the way the ePC Routes the broadcast messages.

### 7.2.7 IMS

IMS test group was added to the Plugfest test list relatively late in the Plugfest preparation process, and only included 2 very high level test cases. Detailed description for these test cases should be provided for future events. IMS-based emergency calls could also be added to the IMS test list.

# 7.3 Feedback on IOP Issues

## 7.3.1 HeMS Test Group Authentication Issue

During HeMS test sessions, it was discovered that TR-069 allowed for 2 different implementation options that are not interoperable. Indeed, TR-069 (Section 3.4.4 Authentication and 3.4.5 Digest Authentication) and RFC2617 specify the HTTP sequence, but do not recommend the number of TCP connections to be used during the message exchange.

As a result one implementation could use a different TCP connection for each message exchange, while another one could use the same TCP connection for the complete message flow. This 2 implementations will not interoperate.



This issue was discussed during the Plugfest and the conclusion was to recommend vendors to support both options.

# 7.3.2 Small Cell provisioning in CBC

This was the first Plugfest were Mobile Alert message broadcast through small cells was tested. 2 different scenarios were tested, one with small cells directly connected to the ePC and a second one with the small cells connected to the ePC through a HeNB-GW.

During the testing it was discovered that the different equipment in the message flow were building and using the Small Cell E-UTRAN CGI in different ways, which lead to interoperability issues.

This issue could be solved during the Plugfest by changes in the configuration of the involved equipment, and both scenarios could be successfully validated. Nevertheless, it was foreseen that the configuration parameters assigned to each small cell should be clarified and that very clear guidelines on their use should be provided for future events (see 7.4.4)

### 7.3.3 Small Cell provisioning in macro eNBs neighbour list.

During the event, it was discovered that Small Cells had been provisioned in macro eNBs neighbour lists as if they were macro cells, which lead to interoperability issues in mobility test cases, especially when testing hand-over from macro cell to small cell. The workaround for this issue was done by small cells simulating being macro cells during mobility test sessions. A clarification of the configuration parameters assigned to small cells and on the way they should be provisioned on peering equipment will allow a reduction in the ramp-up time and having more efficient mobility test sessions (see 7.4.4)

35

# 7.4 Feedback on Organizational Issues

## 7.4.1 Remote test infrastructure

Remote pre-testing was highly appreciated by participants and most probably one of the keys of the success of this Plugfest. However the following points could be improved:

- When connecting remote equipment to HIVE, NAT should be discouraged. Instead, when possible, a fixed IP addresses should be assigned to each piece of remote equipment.
- The VPN request form could be simplified and integrated to the WIKI. Additional documentation can be made available in the WIKI.
- After the Plugfest, participating companies were requested to backup and save their VPN configuration: next Plugfest should capitalize on this and re-use as much as possible the IP address scheme.

#### 7.4.2 Pre-testing

Pre-testing could be more efficient if a clear and explicit pre-testing test cases list was made available for review & comments by participants well in advance of the pre-testing phase.

### 7.4.3 Event format and duration

The face-to-face Plugfest had a duration of 9 days organised as follows:

- 0,5 days for local equipment setup (Monday morning)
- 5,5 days of testing (Monday to Saturday)
- 1 day off (Sunday)
- 2,5 days of testing (Monday to Wednesday)
- 0,5 day for tear-down (Wednesday afternoon)

It was discussed with participants that a better balance between the 2 weeks of testing could be beneficial, a longer break (2 days) between the 2 weeks could also be advisable. Both could be achieved by organising the Plugfest as follows:

- 0,5 days for local equipment setup (Monday afternoon)
- 4 days of testing (Tuesday to Friday)
- 2 days off (Saturday and Sunday)
- 4 days of testing (Monday to Thursday)
- 0,5 day for final wrap-up and tear-down (Friday morning)

# 7.4.4 Configuration parameters

The way some of the configuration parameters were assigned to Small Cells caused confusion, configuration misalignments, and eventually interoperability issues (see 9.2, 9.3).

Long discussions were held with participants during and after the Plugfest, and the following clarifications were agreed:

- 1. Small Cells should indicate if they act as macro cells.
  - 1. If they do:

1) They will be assigned a 20 bits eNBId.

2) They will choose a 8 bits cellId

3)ECGI will be built as eNBId \* 256 + cellId

2. If they do not:

1) They will be assigned a 28 bits HeNBId

2) ECGI will be the HeNBId.

- 2. HeNB-GWs will be assigned:
  - 1. a 20 bits eNBId
  - 2. a (list of) unique TAC (different for each HeNB-GW) to be used by the HeNBs connecting through the HeNB-GW. The HeNB-GW should not register any of these TACs with the MME until the HeNB(s) supporting them has connected to it

3GPP specifications ([TS36.300], Section 4.6.2 require that he TAC and PLMN ID used by a HeNB shall also be supported by the HeNB GW, and that the MME shall be able to route handover messages, MME configuration transfer messages and MME Direct Information Transfer messages based on TAI. To minimise any possible routing problem in the ePCs, an additional (list of) TACI, different from the ones used by the HeNB-GWs, will be shared by Small Cells acting as macro cells. 3GPP specifications suggest that the sets of TACs supported by two different HeNB-GWs under an ePC must not intersect – i.e. have any elements in common – in order to avoid routing confusion.

All this information will be shared in the WIKI, so that all the equipment involved in such test sessions can provision Small Cells in a consistent way and Global eNB IDs exchanged among them are properly built and understood, as described in 3GPP TS 36.413 (Section 9.2.1.37)

IE/Group Name	Presence	Range	IE type and	Semantics description
PLMN Identity	Μ		9.2.3.8	
CHOICE eNB ID	Μ			
>Macro eNB ID				
>>Macro eNB ID	M		BIT STRING (20)	Equal to the 20 leftmost bits of the <i>Cell Identity</i> IE contained in the <i>E-UTRAN CGI</i> IE (see subclause 9.2.1.38) of each cell served by the eNB
>Home eNB ID				-
>>Home eNB ID	M		BIT STRING (28)	Equal to the <i>Cell Identity</i> IE contained in the <i>E-UTRAN</i> <i>CGI</i> IE (see subclause 9.2.1.38) of the cell served by the eNB

### 7.4.5 Security Certificates

ETSI provided a Certificate Authority (CA) server at <u>http://ca.plugtests.net:8080/ejbca/</u> where vendors could retrieve their security certificates either via download of .p12 files or via Certificate Signing Requests (CSR). CMPv2 was not enabled.

37

Participant registration on the Certificate Authority was performed manually on request. For future events, this could be done by default as soon as participants register their equipment. Like this the operators of the devices will receive their login information directly, and will then decide themselves whether or when to download the certificates.

Some participants experienced issues to follow the instructions in the login information email. This text should be reviewed and clarified to ensure the instructions are understandable and easy to follow.

## 7.4.6 GPS Signal

GPS signal was required by some of the Small Cells for synchronization purposes. As the Plugfest venue was several floors underground, bringing the GPS signal to the lab was a real challenge. Several solutions were studied and following solutions were used across various vendors:

1) Installing individual PTP master clocks in level -1(where GPS cable was available) and making the masterclock available over Ethernet in the test lab

2) Using a GPS simulator which re-played a previously saved live GPS recording.

3) NTP server provided by Orange lab.

For future Plugfests, GPS signal availability in the lab should be discussed and arranged with the hosting lab before the event starts.

### 7.4.7 Mobility Testing

Mobility test sessions are probably the most complex ones, and the ones that require longer troubleshooting from participants. The following best practises should be considered to make Mobility test sessions more efficient in future Plugfests:

- Clear guidelines on neighbour cells provisioning in eNBs (see 10.4)
- Equipment pre-calibration: when possible, LTE Measurement Events should be configured consistently on all the equipment participation to the mobility test sessions, so that the same hand over scenario is run each time. The following values were agreed during the Plugfest

Event A2 – Serving becomes worse than threshold: -70 dBm

Event A3 – Neighbour becomes offset better than serving. Offset: 3db, Hysteresis: 1dB

Event A4 - Neighbour becomes better than threshold: -70dBm

- **Mobility station pre-testing**. All the mobility scenarios should be pre-tested with at least one Small Cell to validate the tools and support equipment setup and configuration. Lessons learnt and work-around should be exchanged and discussed with participants. Small Cell vendors could volunteer to participate to pre-testing.
- **On-site support from eNB vendors.** As in previous Plugfests, it was noted that the physical presence and local support from macro eNB vendors during the Plugfests would allow to make the mobility test sessions much more efficient.
- Additional attenuators. Due to the physical presence and support of all the involved parties, multi-vendor mobility is easier to run and troubleshoot that mobility with macro scenarios. Multi-vendor mobility test sessions could be offshored from the mobility test benches to the participants' tables, if some vendors could bring with them additional attenuators to support the tests.

It could be beneficial for the Plugfest to provide Test Session Chairs to overview and support test sessions. This would be especially beneficial for complex scenarios where the ramp-up time has been observed to be significant (SON, MOB). The role of test session chairs could be played by neutral parties, like students or contractors, or by recognised experts in each area from the vendor or operator communities. The Test Session chairs will help to:

38

- Review and detect errors on the test specifications
- Anticipate configuration problems in the involved equipment
- Reduce the test session ramp-up time, by briefing participants on previously detected errors, misconfigurations.
- Improve the execution rate of the test cases
- Ensure a consistent reporting across test sessions.

This possibility should be discussed during the organisation of future Plugfests.

# History

Document history						
V0.1.0	08/09/2014	First version				

39